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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2013

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2013.

PrinciPal activities 

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding and civil construction, whilst the principal activities of the subsidiaries are as stated 
in Note 5 to the financial statements. There has been no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

results  

  GrouP comPany

  rm’000 rm’000

Profit for the year attributable to:

 Owners of the Company 63,404 39,478

 Non-controlling interests (49) -      

  

  63,355 39,478
    

reserves and Provisions

There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under review except as disclosed in the financial 
statements.

dividends   

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company paid:

i) a second interim single-tier dividend of 9.05 sen per ordinary share totalling RM6,154,000 in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 
2012 on 11 March 2013; 

ii) a first interim single-tier dividend of 29.41 sen per ordinary share totalling RM20,000,000 in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 
2013 on 13 June 2013; and

iii) a second interim single-tier dividend of 26.18 sen per ordinary share totalling RM17,800,000 in respect of the financial year ended 31 
December 2013 on 12 September 2013.

 
The Directors do not recommend any final dividend to be paid for the financial year under review.

Subsequent to the financial year end, the Directors declared and paid a first and second interim single-tier dividend of 5.68 sen per ordinary share 
and 14.71 sen per ordinary share respectively totalling RM3,862,400 and RM10,000,000 respectively in respect of the financial year ending 31 
December 2014 on 11 January 2014 and 13 March 2014 respectively. These dividends will be recognised in the subsequent financial period.
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

directors of the comPany

Directors who served since the date of the last report are: 

 Y.A.M. Tengku Dato’ Rahimah binti Almarhum Sultan Mahmud 
 Loh Kim Kah
 Dato’ Che Abdullah @ Rashidi bin Che Omar 
 Mohd. Faizul bin Ibrahim 
 Tan Vern Tact
 Monica Oh Chin Chin (alternate director to Tan Vern Tact)

 
directors’ interests in shares

The interests and deemed interests in the ordinary shares of the Company and of its related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) 
of those who were Directors at financial year end (including the interests of the spouses or children of the Directors who themselves are not 
Directors of the Company) as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:

      number of ordinary shares of rm1.00 each

      at     at

      1.1.2013  bouGht sold  31.12.2013

      ‘000  ‘000 ‘000  ‘000

shareholdinGs in which directors have interests

In the Company

Y.A.M. Tengku Dato’ Rahimah binti Almarhum Sultan Mahmud

 - indirect interest  68,000       - - 68,000     

Dato’ Che Abdullah @ Rashidi bin Che Omar

 - indirect interest  68,000       - - 68,000

 

     
None of the other Directors holding office at 31 December 2013 had any interest in the ordinary shares of the Company and of its related 
corporations during the financial year.
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directors’ benefits 

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become entitled to receive any benefit (other than a 
benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in the financial statements or 
the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company or of related corporations) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related 
corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial 
interest. 

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

issue of shares and debentures 

There were no changes in the authorised, issued and paid-up capital of the Company during the financial year. 

There were no debentures issued during the financial year.

oPtions Granted over unissued shares 

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

other statutory information

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that:

i) all known bad debts have been written off and adequate provision made for doubtful debts, and 

ii) any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business have been written down to an amount which they 
might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances: 

i) that would render the amount written off for bad debts, or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the Group and in the Company 
inadequate to any substantial extent, or

ii) that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading, or  

iii) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company 
misleading or inappropriate, or 

iv) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements that would render any amount stated in the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company misleading.

Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)
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other statutory information (continued)

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year and which secures the liabilities 
of any other person, or 

ii) any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent liability or other liability of any company in the Group has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the 
Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.  

In the opinion of the Directors, other than the impairment loss of trade receivables as disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements, the 
financial performance of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 have not been substantially affected by 
any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature nor has any such item, transaction or event occurred in the interval between the 
end of that financial year and the date of this report.

subsequent events

On 15 January 2014, a subsidiary of the Group, Loh & Loh Constructions Sdn. Bhd. (“LLCSB”) has made a payment of RM54,154,868 on behalf 
of its related company, Millenium Creation Sdn. Bhd. (“MCSB”) for the acquisition of a piece of land.

auditors 

The auditors, Messrs KPMG, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

y.a.m. tengku dato’ rahimah binti     loh Kim Kah
almarhum sultan mahmud

Kuala Lumpur,
Date: 23 April 2014

Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2013
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Statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2013

      GrouP  comPany

     note 2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

assets

 Property, plant and equipment 3 101,217 78,737 - -

 Investment properties 4 15,060 15,060 - -

 Other investments 9 15,000 - 15,000 -

 Investments in subsidiaries  5 - - 156,839 153,280

 Deferred tax assets 6 4,753 3,246 - -

 Trade and other receivables 7 46,064 27,526 - -     

 

total non-current assets  182,094 124,569 171,839 153,280

 

 Inventories 8 35,782 6,117 - -

 Other investments 9 1,625 6,133 1,625 6,133

 Property development costs 10 6,120 64,358 - -

 Current tax assets  1,963 10,256 294 361

 Trade and other receivables 7 232,744 82,475 51,963 26,817

 Cash and cash equivalents  11 154,206 212,702 9,331 8,269       

 

total current assets  432,440 382,041 63,213 41,580

 

total assets  614,534 506,610 235,052 194,860

 

The notes set out on pages 48 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2013 (continued)

      GrouP  comPany

     note 2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

equity

 Share capital 12 68,000 68,000 68,000 68,000

 Revaluation reserve 12 6,659 6,659 76,886 76,886

 Retained earnings 12 222,542 196,872 11,384 9,706

 

total equity attributable to
 shareholders of the comPany  297,201 271,531 156,270 154,592 

non-controllinG interests  1,644 5,318 -         -        

 

total equity  298,845 276,849 156,270 154,592

 

liabilities

 Loans and borrowings 13 9,274 1,856 - -

 Deferred tax liabilities 6 3,093 3,603 - -

 Trade and other payables 14 25,358 38,388 -        -        

 

total non-current liabilities  37,725 43,847 -         -        

 

 Loans and borrowings 13 11,440 2,282 - -

 Trade and other payables 14 263,025 183,229 78,782 40,268

 Current tax liabilities  3,499 403 -         -        

 

total current liabilities  277,964 185,914 78,782 40,268

 

total liabilities  315,689 229,761 78,782 40,268

 

total equity and liabilities  614,534 506,610 235,052 194,860

 

The notes set out on pages 48 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2013

      GrouP  comPany

     note 2013 2012 2013 2012

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

revenue  15 616,803 434,477 40,843 27,264

Cost of sales 16 (501,913) (350,833) (365) (109)

 

Gross Profit  114,890 83,644 40,478 27,155

Other income  5,843 5,285 - -

Administrative expenses  (35,651) (22,742) (938) (857)

 

results from oPeratinG activities  85,082 66,187 39,540 26,298

Finance costs  (1,882) (4,168) - -       

 

Profit before tax 17 83,200 62,019 39,540 26,298

Tax expense 19 (19,845) (18,470) (62) (279) 

 

Profit and total comPrehensive 
 income for the year  63,355 43,549 39,478 26,019

 

Profit attributable to:

 Owners of the Company  63,404 43,396 39,478 26,019

 Non-controlling interests  (49) 153 -        -      

 

Profit for the year  63,355 43,549 39,478 26,019 

 

total comPrehensive income attributable to:

 Owners of the Company  63,404 43,396 39,478 26,019

 Non-controlling interests  (49) 153 -        -      

 

total comPrehensive income for the year  63,355 43,549 39,478 26,019

 

The notes set out on pages 48 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2013

             AttributAble to shAreholders of the CompAny 
 non - distributAble         distributAble        

              non-
      share revaluation  retained  controllinG total
      caPital reserve earninGs total interests equity

GrouP note rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

at 1 January 2012  68,000 6,659 179,630 254,289 5,165 259,454

Profit for the year  - - 43,396 43,396 153 43,549

total comPrehensive 
 income for the year  - - 43,396 43,396 153 43,549

Contributions by and 
 distributions to owners of 
 the Company

 - Dividends to owners of 
  the Company 20 - - (26,154) (26,154) - (26,154)

total transactions with 
 owners of the comPany  - - (26,154) (26,154) - (26,154)

 

at 31 december 2012/
 1 January 2013  68,000 6,659 196,872 271,531 5,318 276,849

Profit for the year  - - 63,404 63,404 (49) 63,355

total comPrehensive 
 income for the year  - - 63,404 63,404 (49) 63,355

Contributions by and distributions 
 to owners of the Company       

 - Changes in ownership 
  interests in a subsidiary 28 - - 66 66 (3,625)  (3,559)

 - Dividends to owners 
  of the Company 20 - - (37,800) (37,800) - (37,800)

total transactions with 
 owners of the comPany

at 31 december 2013

-

68,000

Note 12

-

6,659

Note 12

(37,734)

222,542

Note 12

(37,734)

297,201

(3,625)

1,644

(41,359)

298,845

The notes set out on pages 48 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2013

                    non-distributAble distributAble

      share revaluation retained 

      caPital reserve earninGs total

comPany note rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

at 1 January 2012  68,000 76,886 9,841 154,727

 

Profit for the year  -        -        26,019 26,019

total comPrehensive income 
 for the year  -        -        26,019 26,019

Contributions by and distributions 
 to owners of the Company

 - Dividends to owners of the Company 20 -        -        (26,154) (26,154) 

total transactions with owners 
 of the comPany  -        -        (26,154) (26,154)

 

at 31 december 2012/1 January 2013  68,000 76,886 9,706 154,592

Profit for the year  -        -        39,478 39,478

total comPrehensive income 
 for the year  -        -        39,478 39,478

Contributions by and distributions 
 to owners of the Company

 - Dividends to owners of the Company 20 -        -        (37,800) (37,800)

total transactions with owners
 of the comPany  - - (37,800) (37,800)

 

at 31 december 2013  68,000 76,886 11,384 156,270

 

      Note 12 Note 12

The notes set out on pages 48 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2013

      GrouP  comPany

     note 2013 2012 2013 2012

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

cash flows from oPeratinG activities 

 Profit before tax  83,200 62,019 39,540 26,298

 Adjustments for:

   Property, plant and equipment

    • depreciation  4,407 3,273 -        -       

    • gain on disposal  (18) (700) -        -       

    • written off  1 8 -        -     

 Impairment loss on trade receivables  13,281 - - -

 Provision for foreseeable losses  - 30 - -

 Dividend income  (736) (209) (39,386) (26,358)

 Finance income    

    • deposits with banks  (2,588) (2,870) (166) (93)

    • loans and receivables  (7) (497) - -

 Fair value loss on investment securities  148 376 148 376

 Finance costs    

    • interest expenses  400 236 - -

    • loans and receivables  1,481 3,932 - -

 Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables  (2,430) (1,339) - -

 Reversal on provision for foreseeable losses  (572) - - -

 Net gain on disposal of other investments  (1,291) (809) (1,291) (812)

 Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss    (547) (789) 87        -    

 

oPeratinG Profit/(loss) before 
 chanGes in worKinG caPital  94,729 62,661 (1,068) (589)

 

The notes set out on pages 48 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

      GrouP  comPany

     note 2013 2012 2013 2012

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

 oPeratinG Profit/(loss)  
   before chanGes in worKinG caPital (continued)    

   Changes in inventories  (29,093) (5,869) - -

   Changes in property development costs  58,238 (1,329) - -

   Changes in trade and other receivables  (180,522) 36,320 (24,535) 3,982

   Changes in trade and other payables  75,394 59,148 44,668 23,886

 

 cash Generated from oPerations   18,746 150,931 19,065 27,279

 Interest paid  (400) (236) - -

 Income tax refunded  9,394 7,586 53 -

 Income tax paid  (19,867) (20,718) (48) (74) 

 
 net cash Generated from
    oPeratinG activities   7,873 137,563 19,070 27,205

 
 cash flows from investinG activities 

   Dividends received  - 209 38,650 20,209

   Interest received  2,423 2,870 - 93

   Acquisition of non-controlling interests  (3,559) - (3,559) -

   Purchase of other investments  (15,000) - (15,000) -

   Purchase of property, plant and equipment (ii) (8,198) (22,902) - -

   Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  761 2,359 - -

   Proceeds from disposal of other investments  5,855 2,963 5,855 2,461

   Placement of deposits held under investment management 
    agreement   (5,511) (953) (5,511) (953)     

 

 net cash (used in)/Generated from
   investinG activities    (23,229) (15,454) 20,435 21,810
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Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

      GrouP  comPany

     note 2013 2012 2013 2012

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

cash flows from financinG activities 

 Repayment of finance lease obligations  (4,597) (2,633) - -

 Dividends paid  (44,054) (45,000) (43,954) (45,000)

 

 net cash used in financinG activities  (48,651) (47,633) (43,954) (45,000)

 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (64,007) 74,476 (4,449) 4,015

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  209,057 134,581 4,624 609

 

cash and cash equivalents at 31 december (i) 145,050 209,057 175 4,624

 

(i)   cash and cash equivalents 

    Cash and cash equivalents included in the statements of cash flows comprise the following statements of financial position amounts:

      GrouP  comPany

     note 2013 2012 2013 2012

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

   Deposits placed with licensed banks 11 115,403 67,307 9,156 3,645

   Cash and bank balances 11 38,803 145,395 175 4,624

 

      154,206 212,702 9,331 8,269

   Less: Deposits held under investment 
    management agreement 11 (9,156) (3,645) (9,156) (3,645)

 

      145,050 209,057 175 4,624

 

(ii)   acquisition of ProPerty, Plant and equiPment

   During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with aggregate costs of RM29,371,000 (2012: RM25,356,715)  
   of which RM21,173,000 (2012: RM2,455,000) were acquired by means of finance leases.

The notes set out on pages 48 to 111 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. The addresses of the principal place of 
business and registered office of the Company are as follows:

PrinciPal Place of business
19 & 21, Jalan Sri Hartamas 7
Taman Sri Hartamas
50480 Kuala Lumpur

reGistered office 
Level 7, Menara Milenium
Jalan Damanlela
Pusat Bandar Damansara
Damansara Heights
50490 Kuala Lumpur

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually referred to as “Group entities”). The financial statements of the Company as at 
and for the year ended 31 December 2013 do not include other entities. 

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding and civil construction, whilst the principal activities of the subsidiaries are as stated 
in Note 5 to the financial statements.

The holding company is Selesa Produktif Sdn. Bhd., which is incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia.

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 April 2014.
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Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)

1. basis of PreParation

 1.1 statement of compliance 

The financial statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”) and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting 
Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been adopted by the Group and the Company:

  frss, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

  • Amendments to FRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements: Investment Entities

  • Amendments to FRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Investment Entities

  • Amendments to FRS 127, Separate Financial Statements (2011): Investment Entities

  • Amendments to FRS 132, Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

  • Amendments to FRS 136, Impairment of Assets – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

  •  Amendments to FRS 139, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of 
Hedge Accounting

  • IC Interpretation 21, Levies

  frss, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

  • Amendments to FRS 2, Share-based Payment (Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle)

  • Amendments to FRS 3, Business Combinations (Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle)

  • Amendments to FRS 8, Operating Segments (Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle)

  • Amendments to FRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle)

  • Amendments to FRS 116, Property, Plant and Equipment (Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle)

  • Amendments to FRS 119, Employee Benefits – Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

  • Amendments to FRS 124, Related Party Disclosures (Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle)

  • Amendments to FRS 138, Intangible Assets (Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle)

  • Amendments to FRS 140, Investment Properties (Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle)

	 	 FRSs,	Interpretations	and	amendments	effective	from	a	date	yet	to	be	confirmed

  • FRS 9, Financial Instruments (2009)

  • FRS 9, Financial Instruments (2010)

  • FRS 9, Financial Instruments – Hedge Accounting and Amendments to FRS 9, FRS 7 and FRS 139

  • Amendments to FRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Mandatory Effective Date of FRS 9 and Transition Disclosures

  The Group and the Company plan to apply the abovementioned accounting standards, amendments and interpretations:

  •  from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2014 for those accounting standards, amendments or interpretations that are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, except for IC Interpretation 21 which is not applicable to the 
Group and the Company.

  •  from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2015 for those accounting standards, amendments or interpretations that are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014.

   The initial application of the accounting standards, amendments or interpretations are not expected to have any material financial 
impacts to the current period and prior period financial statements of the Group and the Company, except as mentioned below:
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1. basis of PreParation (continued)

 1.1 statement of compliance (continued)

  frs 9, financial instruments

   FRS 9 replaces the guidance in FRS 139, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, and on hedge accounting.

  The Group is currently assessing the financial impact that may arise from the adoption of FRS 9.

   The Group and the Company fall within the scope of IC Interpretation 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate. 
Therefore, the Group and the Company are currently exempted from adopting the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
(“MFRS”) and are referred to as a “Transitioning Entity”. Being a Transitioning Entity, the Group and the Company will adopt the 
MFRS and present their first set of MFRS financial statements when adoption of the MFRS is mandated by the MASB.

 1.2 basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as disclosed in Note 2.

 1.3 functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial 
information is presented in RM and has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

 1.4  use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than those disclosed in the following notes:

• Note 2(p)(iii) and Note 2(p)(iv) – Revenue from construction contracts and property development  
• Note 3 – Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
• Note 4 – Valuation of investment properties
• Note 6 – Recognition of deferred tax assets
• Note 7 – Valuation of receivables

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies  

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these financial statements and have been 
applied consistently by the Group entities.

 
 2.1 basis of consolidation

  (a) subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, including structured entities, controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

The Group adopted FRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements in the current financial year. This resulted in changes to the 
following policies:

• Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. In the previous financial years, control exists when the Group 
has the ability to exercise its power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities.

• Potential voting rights are considered when assessing control only when such rights are substantive. In the previous financial 
years, potential voting rights are considered when assessing control when such rights are presently exercisable.

• The Group considers it has de facto power over an investee when, despite not having the majority of voting rights, it has the 
current ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect the investee’s return.  In the previous financial 
years, the Group did not consider de facto power in its assessment of control.

The change in accounting policy has been made retrospectively and in accordance with the transitional provision of FRS 10. 
The adoption of FRS 10 has no significant impact to the financial statements of the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any impairment losses, 
unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investments includes transaction costs.

  (b) business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, which is the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group.

   For new acquisitions, the Group measures the cost of goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair 
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date. 

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection 
with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.1 basis of consolidation (continued)

  (c) acquisitions of non-controlling interests

The Group treats all changes in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control as equity transactions 
between the Group and its non-controlling interest holders. Any difference between the Group’s share of net assets before and 
after the change, and any consideration received or paid, is adjusted to or against Group reserves. 

  (d) loss of control

Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the former subsidiary, any non-
controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the former subsidiary from the consolidated statement of 
financial position. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any 
interest in the former subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is 
accounted for as an equity accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence 
retained.

  (e) Jointly arrangements 

Joint arrangements are arrangements of which the Group has joint control, established by contracts requiring unanimous 
consent for decisions about the activities that significantly affect the arrangements’ returns. 

The Group adopted FRS 11, Joint Arrangements in the current financial year. As a result, joint arrangements are classified and 
accounted for as follows:

• A joint arrangement is classified as “joint operation” when the Group or the Company has rights to the assets and obligations 
for the liabilities relating to an arrangement. The Group accounts for each of its share of the assets, liabilities and transactions, 
including its share of those held or incurred jointly with the other investors, in relation to the joint operation. 

 
• A joint arrangement is classified as “joint venture” when the Group has rights only to the net assets of the arrangements. The 

Group accounts for its interest in the joint venture using the equity method.

In the previous financial years, joint arrangements were classified and accounted for as follows:

• For jointly controlled entity, the Group accounted for its interest using the equity method.

• For jointly controlled asset or jointly controlled operation, the Group accounted for each of its share of the assets, liabilities 
and transactions, including its share of those held or incurred jointly with the other investors.

The change in accounting policy has been made retrospectively and in accordance with the transitional provision of FRS 11.  
The adoption of FRS 11 has no significant impact to the financial statements of the Group.

Notes to the financial statements 
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.1 basis of consolidation (continued)

  (f) non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or 
indirectly to the equity holders of the Company, are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and statement 
of changes in equity within equity, separately from equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests 
in the results of the Group is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an 
allocation of the profit or loss and the comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and owners of 
the Company.

Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so 
causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

  (g) transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

 2.2 foreign currency 

  foreign currency transactions

  Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions.

  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at that date.  

  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are not retranslated at the end of the reporting period, except 
those that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 
determined.

  Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.3 financial instruments

  (a) initial recognition and measurement

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group or 
the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial instrument is recognised initially, at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument.

  (b) financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement 

The Group and the Company categorise financial instruments as follows:

   financial assets

i. Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss

Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial assets that are held for trading, including derivatives (except 
for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument) or financial assets 
that are specifically designated into this category upon initial recognition.

Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose fair values cannot be 
reliably measured are measured at cost.  

Other financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair values with 
the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

ii. held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments category comprises debt instruments that are quoted in an active market and the Group or 
the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity.

Financial assets categorised as held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

iii. loans and receivables

Loans and receivables category comprises debt instruments that are not quoted in an active market. 

Financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to review for impairment (see 
Note 2(k)).
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.3 financial instruments (continued)

  (b) financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (continued)

   financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost other than those categorised as fair value through profit 
or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are derivatives (except for a derivative that is 
a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument) or financial liabilities that are specifically 
designated into this category upon initial recognition.

Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose fair values cannot be 
reliably measured are measured at cost.  

Other financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair values with the 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

  (c) financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms 
of a debt instrument.

Fair values arising from financial guarantee contracts are classified as deferred income and is amortised to profit or loss using a 
straight-line method over the contractual period or, when there is no specified contractual period, recognised in profit or loss 
upon discharge of the guarantee.  When settlement of a financial guarantee contract becomes probable, an estimate of the 
obligation is made.  If the carrying value of the financial guarantee contract is lower than the obligation, the carrying value is 
adjusted to the obligation amount and accounted for as a provision.

	 	 (d)	 Regular	way	purchase	or	sale	of	financial	assets	

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the 
asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting. 
Trade date accounting refers to:

i. the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and 
ii. derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the recognition of a receivable from  
 the buyer for payment on the trade date.
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 2.3 financial instruments (continued)

  (e) derecognition

A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire or the financial asset is transferred to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards 
of the asset. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is discharged 
or cancelled or expires.  On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

 2.4 Property, plant and equipment

  (a) recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost or valuation less any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and 
restoring the site on which they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and direct 
labour.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and is recognised net within “other income” and “other 
expenses” respectively in profit or loss.

   property, plant and equipment under the revaluation model 

The Group revalues its property comprising land and buildings every 5 years and at shorter intervals whenever the fair value 
of the revalued assets is expected to differ materially from their carrying value.

Surpluses arising from revaluation are dealt with in the revaluation reserve account. Any deficit arising is offset against the 
revaluation reserve to the extent of a previous increase for the same property. In all other cases, a decrease in carrying amount 
is recognised in profit or loss when revalued.
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

  (b) subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group or the Company, and 
its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised to profit or loss. The costs 
of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

  (c) depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are assessed, 
and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated 
separately.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item 
of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless 
it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Freehold land is not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

• buildings 40-50 years
• plant and machinery 10-20 years
• office equipment, furniture and fittings 5-10 years
• motor vehicles 5-8 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of the reporting period and adjusted as 
appropriate.

 2.5 leased assets

  (a) finance lease

Leases in terms of which the Group or the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and 
the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the 
outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum 
lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.
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 2.5 leased assets (continued)

  (b) operating lease

Leases where the Group or the Company does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the statement of financial position. 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are 
consumed.  Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term 
of the lease.  Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

 2.6 investment properties

  (a) investment properties carried at fair value

Investment properties are properties which are owned to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for 
sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised in profit 
or loss for the period in which they arise.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-constructed 
investment property includes the cost of materials, direct labour and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the 
investment property to a working condition for their intended use.

An investment property is derecognised on its disposal, or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 
benefits are expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

  (b)	 Reclassification	to/from	investment	property

When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a change in its use, any 
difference arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item immediately prior to transfer and its fair 
value is recognised directly in equity as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment. However, if a fair value gain reverses 
a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in profit or loss.  Upon disposal of an investment property, any surplus 
previously recorded in equity is transferred to retained earnings; the transfer is not made through profit or loss.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment or inventories, its fair value at 
the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. 
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.6 investment properties (continued)

  (c) determination of fair value

The Directors estimate the fair values of the Group’s investment properties for disclosure purposes without involvement of 
independent valuers.

The fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date (see Note 2(t)).

 2.7 inventories

Inventories of completed properties are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories includes 
expenditures incurred in the acquisition of land, direct cost and appropriate proportions of common cost attributable to developing 
the properties to completion.

Other inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured based on weighted 
average cost formula, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs 
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.  In the case of work-in-progress and finished goods, cost includes 
an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

 2.8 construction work-in-progress

Construction work-in-progress represents the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers for contract work 
performed to date.  It is measured at cost plus profit recognised to date less progress billings and recognised losses.  Cost includes all 
expenditure related directly to specific projects and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads incurred in the Group’s contract 
activities based on normal operating capacity.  

Construction work-in-progress is presented as part of trade receivables as amount due from contract customers in the statement of 
financial position for all contracts in which costs incurred plus recognised profits exceed progress billings. If progress billings exceed 
costs incurred plus recognised profits, then the difference is presented as amount due to contract customers which is part of the trade 
payables in the statement of financial position.
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 2.9 Property development costs

Property development costs comprise costs associated with the acquisition of land and all costs that are directly attributable to 
development activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities.

When the financial outcome of a development activity can be reliably estimated, property development revenue and expenses are 
recognised in profit or loss by using the stage of completion method.  The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that 
property development costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property development costs.

Where the financial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, property development revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable, and property development costs on 
properties sold are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Any expected loss on a development project, including costs to be incurred over the defects liability period, is recognised as an 
expense immediately.

Property development costs not recognised as an expense is recognised as an asset and is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. The excess of revenue recognised in profit or loss over billings to the purchasers is shown as accrued billings receivable under 
trade receivables while the excess billing to purchasers over revenue recognised in profit or loss is shown as progress billings under 
trade payables. 

 2.10 cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks and highly liquid investments which have an 
insignificant risk of changes in fair value with original maturities of three months or less, and are used by the Group and the Company 
in the management of their short term commitments. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are 
presented net of pledged deposits.

 2.11 impairment 

  (a) financial assets

All financial assets (except for financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss and investments in subsidiaries) 
are assessed at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
having an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how 
likely, are not recognised. For an investment in an equity instrument, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below 
its cost is an objective evidence of impairment. If any such objective evidence exists, then the impairment loss of the financial 
asset is estimated.
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.11 impairment (continued) 

  (a) financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss in respect of loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments is recognised in profit or loss and 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account.

An impairment loss in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in profit or loss and is 
measured as the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the 
date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

  (b) other assets

The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories, amount due from contract customers, investment properties 
measured at fair value and deferred tax assets) are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of 
disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating 
unit.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are 
allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets in the cash-generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) on a 
pro rata basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that the loss 
has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.  Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the 
financial year in which the reversals are recognised.
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 2.12 equity instruments 

Instruments classified as equity are measured at cost on initial recognition and are not remeasured subsequently.

  (a) issue expenses

Costs directly attributable to the issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised as a deduction from equity.

  (b) ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

	 2.13	 Employee	benefits

  (a)	 Short-term	employee	benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and sick leave are measured 
on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

 
  (b) state plans

The Group’s contributions to statutory pension funds are charged to profit or loss in the financial year to which they relate.  
Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.

  (c) long term incentive Plan (“ltiP”)

The grant date fair value of LTIP granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, over the period when the 
employees meet the vesting conditions. The amount recognised as an expense is based on the performance of the Company 
and employees meeting the related service conditions at the vesting date. The fair value of the LTIP is measured using total 
tangible assets per share issued as per the latest audited financial statements.
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.14 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

   (a) warranties

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based on historical 
warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

   (b) onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are 
lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract.  The provision is measured at the present value 
of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract.  Before 
a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

 2.15 contingent liabilities

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the 
obligation is not recognised in the statements of financial position and is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability 
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic 
benefits is remote.

 2.16 revenue and other income

  (a) Goods sold

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discount and volume rebates.  Revenue is recognised when persuasive 
evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods 
can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the 
discount is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised. 
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 2.16 revenue and other income

  (b) construction contracts

Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and incentive 
payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably. As soon as the outcome 
of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract cost are recognised in profit or loss in 
proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract expenses are recognised as incurred unless they create an asset 
related to future contract activity.  

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to-date bear 
to the estimated total contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent 
of contract costs incurred that is likely to be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

  (c) Property development

Revenue from the sale of completed properties is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is 
recognised in profit or loss when significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer.

  (d) rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Lease 
incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease. Rental income from 
subleased property is recognised as other income.

  (e) dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s or the Company’s right to receive payment is 
established.

  (f) interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit or loss except for interest income arising 
from temporary investment of borrowings taken specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset which is accounted 
for in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs.
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2. siGnificant accountinG Policies (continued)  

 2.17 borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised 
in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

 2.18 income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous financial years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases.  Deferred tax is not recognised for the initial recognition of assets 
or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred 
tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(f), the amount 
of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at the 
reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held with the objective to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 
embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured 
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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 2.20 operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  All operating 
segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which in this case is the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Group, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which 
discrete financial information is available.

 2.21 fair value measurement

From 1 January 2013, the Group adopted FRS 13, Fair Value Measurement which prescribed that fair value of an asset or a liability, 
except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is determined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal market, 
in the most advantageous market. 

For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits 
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and 
best use.

In accordance with the transitional provision of FRS 13, the Group applied the new fair value measurement guidance prospectively, 
and has not provided any comparative fair value information for new disclosures. The adoption of FRS 13 has not significantly 
affected the measurements of the Group and the Company assets or liabilities other than the additional disclosures in Note 4 and 
Note 22 to the financial statements.

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)
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Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)

3. ProPerty, Plant and equiPment
            
       buildinGs  office 
       on  equiPment,   
      freehold freehold Plant & furniture motor  
 GrouP  note land land machinery & fittinGs vehicles total

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

 cost/valuation  

 At 1 January 2012   12,133 2,941 54,622 6,760 19,239 95,695

 Additions   - - 20,326 1,288 3,743 25,357

 Disposals   - - (3,001) (35) (1,984) (5,020)

 Written off   - - - (168) - (168)

 

 At 31 December 2012/1 January 2013  12,133 2,941 71,947 7,845 20,998 115,864

 Additions   - - 25,616 887 2,868 29,371

 Disposals   - - (723) (71) (1,358) (2,152)

 Written off   - - - (72) - (72)

 

 At 31 December 2013   12,133 2,941 96,840 8,589 22,508 143,011

 

 dePreciation

 At 1 January 2012   - 35 24,810 3,895 6,953 35,693

 Depreciation charge  for the year:

  - Recognised in profit or loss 17 - 35 1,938 617 683 3,273

  - Capitalised in property 
   development costs  10 - - - 4 - 4

  -  Capitalised in construction 
   contract costs  7 - - 751 236 692 1,679

      - 35 2,689 857 1,375 4,956

 Disposals   - - (2,102) (25) (1,234) (3,361)

 Written off   - - - (161) - (161)

 

 At 31 December 2012/1 January 2013  -        70 25,397 4,566 7,094 37,127
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3. ProPerty, Plant and equiPment (continued)
            
       buildinGs  office 
       on  equiPment,   
      freehold freehold Plant & furniture motor  
 GrouP  note land land machinery & fittinGs vehicles total

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

 dePreciation (continued)

 At 1 January 2013   - 70 25,397 4,566 7,094 37,127

 Depreciation charge for the year:

  - Recognised in profit or loss 17 - 36 2,763 846 762 4,407

  -  Capitalised in property 
   development costs  10 - - - 6 - 6

  - Capitalised in construction 
   contract costs  7 - - 632 274 828 1,734

      - 36 3,395 1,126 1,590 6,147

 Disposals   - - (573) (64) (772) (1,409)

 Written off   - - - (71) - (71)

 

 At 31 December 2013   - 106 28,219 5,557 7,912 41,794

 

 carryinG amounts

 At 31 December 2012/1 January 2013  12,133 2,871 46,550 3,279 13,904 78,737

 

 At 31 December 2013   12,133 2,835 68,621 3,032 14,596 101,217

 

Notes to the financial statements 
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3. ProPerty, Plant and equiPment (continued)

 3.1 Property, plant and equipment under the revaluation model

Had the freehold land and buildings been carried under the cost model, their carrying amounts would have been as follows:

    GrouP 

    2013  2012 
    rm’000  rm’000

Freehold land 5,764  5,764

Buildings on freehold land 2,209  2,228

 
  7,973  7,992

 

	 3.2	 Assets	under	finance	leases

Included in the Group’s property, plant and equipment are assets acquired under finance lease liabilities with carrying values as 
follows:

    GrouP 

    2013  2012 
    rm’000  rm’000

Motor vehicles 6,286  6,679

Plant and machinery 23,428  2,576 

 
  29,714  9,255

 

4. investment ProPerties

    GrouP 

    2013  2012 
    rm’000  rm’000

At 1 January/At 31 December 15,060 15,060

 

Included in the above are: 
    GrouP 

    2013  2012 
    rm’000  rm’000

At fair value

 Freehold land  13,944  13,944

   Buildings  1,116  1,116

 

Notes to the financial statements 
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4. investment ProPerties (continued)

 4.1 fair value information

Fair value of investment properties are categorised as follows:

         2013
        level 1 level 2 level 3 total

        rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

   Freehold land     - - 13,944 13,944

   Buildings     - - 1,116 1,116

 

        - - 15,060 15,060

 

Policy on transfer between levels
The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that 
caused the transfer.

level 1 fair value
Level 1 fair value is derived from quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical investment properties that the entity can 
access at the measurement date.

level 2 fair value
Level 2 fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the property, 
either directly or indirectly. 

Level 2 fair values of land and buildings have been generally derived using the sales comparison approach. Sales price of comparable 
properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size.  The most significant input into this 
valuation approach is price per square foot of comparable properties.

transfer between level 1 and 2 fair values
There is no transfer between Level 1 and 2 fair values during the financial year.
 

Notes to the financial statements 
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4. investment ProPerties (continued)

 4.1 fair value information (continued)

level 3 fair value
Level 3 fair value is estimated using unobservable inputs for the investment property.

valuation process applied by the Group for level 3 fair value
The fair value of the investment properties is estimated by a registered valuer with Henry Butcher Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. using the 
comparison approach based on current market value. 

The comparison approach is the market approach of comparing the investment properties with similar properties that were either 
transacted recently or listed for sale within the same location or other comparable localities. In comparing the investment properties, 
due consideration is given to factors such as location, size, building differences, improvements and amenities, time element and 
other relevant factors to arrive at the fair value of the investment properties.

The following are recognised in profit or loss in respect of investment properties:

  GrouP

    2013  2012 
    rm’000  rm’000

Rental income 108 108

Direct operating expenses  
- income generating investment properties (44) (28)

 

Notes to the financial statements 
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5. investments in subsidiaries

  comPany

    2013  2012 
    rm’000  rm’000

    25,805 22,246

  131,034 131,034

 
  156,839 153,280

 

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

     effective ownershiP interest

 name of country of PrinciPal 2013 2012
 subsidiaries incorPoration activities % %

 

 direct subsidiaries

 Loh & Loh Constructions Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Building and civil construction 100 100
       and investment holding

 

 Loh & Loh Development Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Property development 100 100
       and investment holding

 

 Water Engineering Technology Malaysia  Trading, contracting 100 100
  Sdn. Bhd.    and mechanical and
       electrical engineering
       related activities

 

 Central Icon Sdn. Bhd.*(ii) Malaysia  Dormant 100 90

 
 subsidiaries of loh & loh 
  constructions sdn. bhd.

 Jutakim Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Civil engineering 100 100

 

 Quality Quarry Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Quarry operation 68 68

 

 1 Seri Merdeka Sdn. Bhd.(iv) Malaysia  Dormant 100 -

 

 Decorus Developments Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Civil engineering - 100
  (formerly known as 
  Loh & Loh Ikhmas Sdn. Bhd.) (i) 

Notes to the financial statements 
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5. investments in subsidiaries (continued)

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows (continued): 

     effective ownershiP interest

 name of country of PrinciPal 2013 2012
 subsidiaries incorPoration activities % %

 

 subsidiaries of loh & loh 
  development sdn. bhd.

 Turf-Tech Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Property development 100 100

 

 Green Heights Developments Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Property development 100 100

 

 Medius Developments Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Civil engineering 100   100

 

 Decorus Developments Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Property development 100   -
  (formerly known as Loh & Loh
  Ikhmas Sdn. Bhd.)(i) 

 

 Millenium Creation Sdn. Bhd.(iii) Malaysia  Property development 100   -

 
 subsidiaries of water engineering
  technology sdn. bhd. 

 WET Sales and Services Malaysia  Trading and contracting in 90 90
  Sdn. Bhd.  water related equipment

 

 WET O&M Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  Maintenance and operation 100 100
       of water and waste 
       water treatment facilities

 
 subsidiary of central icon sdn. bhd.

 Ladang Impian Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  Dormant 100 100

 
 subsidiaries of ladang 
  impian sdn. bhd.

 Ladang Impian 1 Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  Dormant 100 100

 

 Ladang Impian 2 Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  Dormant 100 100

 

 subsidiary of ladang 
  impian 1 sdn. bhd.

 Pasarakyat Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia  Dormant 100 100

Notes to the financial statements 
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Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)

5. investments in subsidiaries (continued)

 * These subsidiaries are in the process of striking-off from the register of Companies Commission of Malaysia.
 
 (i) On 31 January 2013, Loh & Loh Development Sdn. Bhd. (“LLDSB”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired 1,200,000 

ordinary shares of RM1.00 each representing 100% of the equity interest in Decorus Developments Sdn. Bhd., for a total consideration 
of RM1.00 from Loh & Loh Constructions Sdn. Bhd. (“LLCSB”), another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

 (ii) On 19 March 2013, the Company acquired 884,967 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each representing 10% of the equity interest in 
Central Icon Sdn. Bhd. (“CISB”), for a total consideration of RM3,559,245. Pursuant to the acquisition, CISB became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company.

 (iii) On 1 July 2013, LLDSB acquired 2 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each representing 100% of the equity interest in Millenium Creation 
Sdn. Bhd. (“MCSB”), for a total consideration of RM2.00. Pursuant to the acquisition, MCSB became a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Group.

 (iv) On 2 July 2013, LLCSB acquired 2 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each representing 100% of the equity interest in 1 Seri Merdeka Sdn. 
Bhd. (“1SMSB”), for a total consideration of RM2.00. Pursuant to the acquisition, 1SMSB became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Group.

 All the subsidiaries are audited by KPMG.

6. deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

recognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

       assets  liabilities   net

        2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

     rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000
GrouP      

Property, plant and equipment - - (8,645) (7,759) (8,645) (7,759)

Provisions 10,678 7,735 -        - 10,678 7,735

Other items -        - (373) (333) (373) (333)

 

Tax assets / (liabilities) 10,678 7,735 (9,018) (8,092) 1,660 (357)

Set-off of tax (5,925) (4,489) 5,925 4,489 -        -

 

Net tax assets / (liabilities) 4,753 3,246 (3,093) (3,603) 1,660 (357)
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(continued)

6. deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (continued)

unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross):

      
    comPany

         2013 2012 

         rm’000 rm’000

Unused tax losses     12,237 11,341

Unabsorbed capital allowances     1,076 1,147

Other deductible temporary differences     - 9

 

         13,313 12,497

 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items as they have arisen in Group entities that have a recent history of 
losses or in Group entities where future taxable profits may be insufficient to trigger the utilisation of these items. 

 movement in temporary differences during the year

Property, plant and equipment

Provisions

Others

recoGnised

in Profit

or loss

(note 19)

rm’000

(1,550)

2,509

(42)

917

at

31.12.2012/

1.1.2013

rm’000

(7,759)

7,735

(333)

(357)

recoGnised

in Profit

or loss

(note 19)

rm’000

(886)

2,943

(40)

2,01

at

31.12.2013

rm’000

(8,645)

10,678

(373)

1,660

at

1.1.2012

rm’000

(6,209)

5,226

(291)

1,274
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 7. trade and other receivables 

      
  GrouP comPany

          2013 2012 2013 2012

      note rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000
non-current trade      

Trade receivables  7.1 46,064 27,526 -        -       

 

current trade

Trade receivables  7.1 207,317 48,101 -        -       

Less: Allowance for impairment loss   (19,582) (8,731) -        -       

       187,735 39,370 -        -       

Amount due from contract customers  7.2 3,715 16,313 -        -       

Accrued billings receivable  7.3 4,911 19,184 -        -       

 

       196,361 74,867 -        -       

 

non-trade

Amount due from subsidiaries   7.4 -        -        51,237 26,797

Deposits   118 2,242 2 2

Prepayments   47 682 -        -       

Other receivables  7.5 36,875 5,341 724 18      

   

       37,040 8,265 51,963 26,817

Less: Allowance for impairment loss   (657) (657)  -        -       

 

       36,383 7,608 51,963 26,817

 

       232,744 82,475 51,963 26,817

 

Notes to the financial statements 
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7. trade and other receivables (continued)

 7.1 trade receivables

Included in trade receivables at 31 December 2013 are retentions of RM71,812,337 (2012: RM37,342,306) relating to construction 
work-in-progress.

Retentions are unsecured, interest-free and are expected to be collected as follows:
   GrouP

            2013 2012

         rm’000 rm’000

   Within 1 year      25,748 9,816

   1 - 2 years     14,111 8,408

   2 - 3 years     21,516 4,780

   3 - 4 years     10,437 9,858

   4 - 5 years     - 4,480

 

         71,812 37,342

 

 7.2 amount due from contract customers

   GrouP

            2013 2012

         rm’000 rm’000

   Aggregate costs incurred to date    1,919,334 1,394,017

   Add: Attributable profit     249,074 194,084

   Less: Provision for foreseeable losses    (715) (1,287)

 

        2,167,693 1,586,814

   Less: Progress billings    (2,255,015) (1,596,038)

 

        (87,322) (9,224)

   Amount due to contract customers (Note 14)    91,037 25,537

 

   Amount due from contract customers    3,715 16,313

 

   Included in aggregate costs incurred during the  financial year are the following significant charges:
   GrouP

            2013 2012

         rm’000 rm’000

   - Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 3)    1,734 1,679
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7. trade and other receivables (continued)

 7.3 accrued billings receivable

Accrued billings receivable are in respect of property development activities.

 7.4 amount due from subsidiaries

The amount due from subsidiaries is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

 7.5 other receivables

Included in other receivables of the Group are:

i. Advance payments of RM201,598 (2012: RM2,743,041) to sub-contractors/suppliers of subsidiaries which were paid in  
 accordance with the terms of the contracts.

ii. Deposit of RM32,086,727 (2012: RM1,252,448) paid for the purchase of land by subsidiaries.

8. inventories

   GrouP

            2013 2012

         rm’000 rm’000

At cost:

 Water related equipment    4 66

 Properties held for sale (Note 10)    35,778 6,051

 

        35,778 6,117

 

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)



79
LOH & LOH CORPORATION BERHAD

ANNUAL REPORT 2013

9.  other investments 

         quoted in 
       total unquoted malaysia 
    GrouP and comPany   rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

2013

non-current  

Held-to-maturity investments 15,000 15,000 -

current

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:   

   - Held for trading investments 1,625 - 1,625  

 

          16,625 15,000 1,625

 

Market value of quoted investments   1,625

  

2012

current

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:   

   - Held for trading investments 6,133 - 6,133

 

          6,133 - 6,133

 

Market value of quoted investments   6,133

  

Notes to the financial statements 
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10. ProPerty develoPment costs 

   GrouP

            2013 2012

         rm’000 rm’000

cumulative ProPerty develoPment costs

At 1 January    173,456 178,513

Costs incurred during the year    54,739 84,602

Reversal of completed projects    (186,297) (83,608)

Transfers to inventories (Note 8)    (35,778) (6,051)

 

At 31 December    6,120 173,456

 

cumulative costs recoGnised in Profit or loss

At 1 January    (109,098) (115,488)

Recognised during the year (Note 16)    (77,199) (77,218)

Reversal of completed projects    186,297 83,608

 

At 31 December    - (109,098)

 

Property development costs    6,120 64,358

 

develoPment costs are analysed as follows:

Freehold land, at cost    - 67,623

Development costs    6,120 105,833

Costs recognised in profit or loss

 - prior year    (109,098) (115,488)

 - current year (Note 16)    (77,199) (77,218)

Reversal of completed projects    186,297 83,608

 

At 31 December    6,120 64,358

 

Included in development costs incurred during the financial year are:

 - Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 3)    6 4
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Notes to the financial statements 
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11. cash and cash equivalents 

  GrouP comPany

       2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

Deposits placed with licensed banks   115,403 67,307 9,156 3,645

Cash and bank balances   38,803 145,395 175 4,624

 

       154,206 212,702 9,331 8,269

 

Included in the Group and the Company’s cash and cash equivalents is an amount of RM9,156,066 (2012: RM3,645,036) held in trust by  
a trustee under an investment management agreement for discretionary accounts and is not available for use during the placement period. 

Included in cash at banks of the Group are amounts of RM15,075,680 (2012: RM43,053,647) held pursuant to Section 7A of the Housing 
Development (Control and Licensing) Act, 1966 and are restricted from use in other operations.

12. share caPital and reserves 

     
         number  number
       amount of shares amount of shares
               2013 2012 2013 2012

           rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

Authorised:

 Ordinary shares of RM1 each      100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

 

Issued and fully paid shares classified as equity instruments:

 Ordinary shares of RM1 each        68,000 68,000 68,000 68,000

 
   

ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote per share at 
meetings of the Company.

All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

revaluation reserve 
The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

section 108 tax credit

The Finance Act, 2007 introduced a single tier company income tax system with effect from 1 January 2008. In 2011, the Company had 
opted for single tier company income tax system and under the Act this option is irrevocable. As such, the Company may distribute single 
tier exempt dividends to its shareholders out of its entire retained earnings.

GrouP and comPany
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13. loans and borrowinGs

     
   GrouP

         2013 2012 

         rm’000 rm’000

non-current

Finance lease liability     9,274 1,856

current
Finance lease liability     11,440 2,282

 

         20,714 4,138

 

The average discount rates implicit in the leases range between 4.59% and 7.42% (2012: 4.16% and 7.42%) per annum.

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

     

        Present   Present
     future  value of future  value of
     minimum  minimum minimum  minimum 
     lease   lease lease  lease
     Payments interest Payments Payments interest Payments

      2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012

GrouP rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

Less than one year 12,234 794 11,440 2,431 149 2,282

Between one and five years 9,512 238 9,274 1,940 84 1,856

 

     21,746 1,032 20,714 4,371 233 4,138
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14. trade and other Payables  

      
  GrouP comPany

      note 2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

non-current trade

Trade payables  14.1 25,358 38,388 -       -       

 

current trade

Trade payables  14.1 106,686 35,604 -        -       

Amount due to contract customers  7.2 91,037 25,537 -        -       

Amount due to related party   14.2 2,498 2,521 -        -       

 

       200,221 63,662 -        -       

 

non-trade

Other payables  14.3 55,572 101,267 -        -

Accruals and provisions  14.5 7,232 12,146 284 462 

Amount due to subsidiaries  14.4 -        -        78,498 33,652

Dividend payables   -  6,154 - 6,154

 

       62,804 119,567 78,782 40,268

 

       263,025 183,229 78,782 40,268

 

 14.1 trade payables

Included in trade payables at 31 December 2013 are retention sums payable amounting to RM25,357,583 (2012: RM38,388,102).

 14.2 amount due to related party

The amounts due to related party (non-controlling interests of certain subsidiaries of the Group) is unsecured, interest free and subject 
to normal trade terms.

 14.3 other payables

Included in other payables of the Group are advances received from contract customers of a subsidiary amounting to RM44,423,944 
(2012: RM98,333,509) in accordance with the terms of the contracts.

 14.4 amount due to subsidiaries

The amount due to subsidiaries is unsecured, interest free and repayment on demand.
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14. trade and other Payables (continued) 

 14.5 accruals and provisions

Included in accruals and provisions of the Group is employee benefit in respect of the Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) amounting 
to RM2,731,641 (2012: Nil).

During the year, the Directors were authorised to proceed with the establishment and administration of the LTIP. The Directors have 
appointed a Committee (“Committee”) to administer the LTIP.

The main features of the LTIP are as follows:

i) The LTIP has been implemented on 31 October 2013, and shall be in force for a period of three years and expires on 31 October  
 2015. 

ii) Eligible employees are determined at the discretion of the Committee subject to employees and executive directors, collectively  
 known as “Group Employees”, having been confirmed in the employment of the Company and its subsidiaries on or up to 31  
 October 2013 and have attained the age of eighteen (18) years. An executive director shall only be eligible if his participation in  
 the LTIP is specifically approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

iii) The vesting conditions of the LTIP are as follows:

 (a) The Group has to achieve at least 90% of the net profit after tax which is budgeted by the management of the Group and  
  approved by the Board from time to time for the financial year immediately prior to the vesting date and which shall be  
  calculated based on the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

 (b) The Group Employees shall have been assessed by the relevant management and Committee with the employee performance  
  assessment system.

iv) Key assumptions of LTIP are as follows:

 (a) If the Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) materialises, the Group grants free shares to Group Employees in the respective vesting  
  dates.

 (b) If the IPO does not materialise, the Group pays cash based on the total tangible assets per share issued as per the latest  
  audited financial statements immediately preceding the respective vesting dates.

v) During the three (3) years ending 31 October 2015, 1,775,824 shares are granted under the LTIP. Vesting dates for the LTIP Award  
 and the percentage for each vesting date are as follows:

 vesting dates  Percentage (%)
 31 October 2013 40 
 31 October 2014  30 
 31 October 2015  30 

Notes to the financial statements 
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15. revenue

  GrouP comPany

       2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

Construction contracts   479,989 320,317 -        -       

Property development    110,626 107,306 -        -       

Sale of goods   23,887 5,632 -        -       

Gain on disposal of investments   1,291 812 1,291 812

Rental income from revenue 
 generating investment property   108 108 -        -       

Finance income   166 93 166 93

Dividends:

 - subsidiaries   -        -        38,650 26,150

 - other investments, quoted in Malaysia   736 209 736 209

 

       616,803 434,477 40,843 27,264

 

16. cost of sales   

      
  GrouP comPany

       2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

Construction contract costs   408,827 268,833 -        -       

Property development costs (Note 10)   77,199 77,218 -        -       

Cost of goods sold   15,478 4,645 -        -       

Cost relating to investing activity   365 109 365 109

Rental expense from revenue
 generating investment properties   44 28 -        -  

 

       501,913 350,833 365 109   

 

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)



86
LOH & LOH CORPORATION BERHAD
ANNUAL REPORT 2013

17. Profit before tax   

      
  GrouP comPany

      note 2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

Profit before tax is arrived at after charGinG: 

Auditors’ remuneration

 - Audit fees

   KPMG Malaysia   212 212 22 22

 - Under/(Over) provision in prior years   7 (6) 3 (4)

Impairment loss on trade receivables   13,281 - -        -       

Finance costs

 - interest expense   400 236 -        -       

 - loans and receivables   1,481       3,932        -       

Fair value loss on investment securities   148 376 148 376

Loss on disposal of quoted investments   - 3        -        -       

Property, plant and equipment

 - depreciation  3 4,407 3,273 -        -       

 - written off   1 8 -        -       

Personnel expenses

 - wages, salaries and others   40,493 31,810 261 334

 - contribution to state plans   3,647 3,122 -        -       

 - Long Term Incentive Plan   2,732 - -        -

Provision for foreseeable losses   - 30 -        -       

Unrealised foreign exchange loss   - - 87 -

Rental of premises   829 27 -        -           
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17. Profit before tax (continued)   

      
  GrouP comPany

      note 2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

Profit before tax is arrived at after creditinG

Rental income   9 15 -        -       

Finance income from:

 - short term deposits   2,588 2,870 166 93 

 - loans and receivables   7 497 -        -       

Gain on disposal of property,
 plant and equipment   18 700 -        -       

Net gain on disposal of other investments   1,291 812 1,291 812

Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables   2,430 1,339 - -

Reversal on provision for foreseeable losses   572 - - -

Realised foreign exchange gain   1,391 - - -

Unrealised foreign exchange gain   547 789 -        -

 

18. Key manaGement Personnel comPensations

 The key management personnel compensations are as follows:  

      
  GrouP comPany

       2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

Directors:

 - Fees    381 454 261 334

 - Other emoluments   5,930 4,964 -      -     

 - Contributions to state plans    584 597 -     -    

 

       6,895 6,015 261 334    

 

The estimated monetary value of Directors’ benefits-in-kind is RM944,185 (2012: RM145,198).
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19. tax exPense

 recoGnised in Profit or loss   

      
  GrouP comPany

       2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

current tax exPense

Malaysian - current   22,904 14,677 63 20       

     - prior years   (1,042) 4,710 (1) 259

 

Total current tax recognised in the profit or loss   21,862 19,387 62 279

 

deferred tax assets

- Origination and reversal of temporary differences   (1,552) 2,234 -        -       

- Over provision in prior year   (465) (3,151) -        -     

 

Total deferred tax recognised in profit or loss   (2,017) (917) -      -     

 

Total income tax expense   19,845 18,470 62 279

 

reconciliation of tax exPense

Profit before tax   83,200 62,019 39,540 26,298

 

Tax at Malaysian tax rate of 25%   20,800 15,505 9,885 6,574

Non-deductible expenses   1,156 2,591 314 229

Tax exempt income   (808) (1,274) (10,138) (6,783)

Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of
 deductible temporary differences   204 89 - -

(Over)/Under provision in prior year   (1,507) 1,559 1 259      

 

       19,845 18,470 62 279   

 

Tax exempt income of the Company mainly relates to dividend income of RM38,650,000 (2012: RM26,150,000).

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)



89
LOH & LOH CORPORATION BERHAD

ANNUAL REPORT 2013

20. dividends

Dividends recognised by the Company are as follows:

       sen total
       Per share amount date of
       (sinGle tier) rm’000 Payment

2013

First interim 2013 ordinary   29.41 20,000 13 June 2013

Second interim 2013 ordinary   26.18 17,800 12 September 2013

 

Total amount    37,800

 

2012

First interim 2012 ordinary   29.41 20,000 12 July 2012

Second interim 2012 ordinary   9.05 6,154 11 March 2013

 

Total amount    26,154

 

The Directors do not recommend any final dividend to be paid for the financial year under review.

After the reporting period, the Directors declared and paid a first and second interim single-tier dividend of 5.68 sen per ordinary share and 
14.71 sen per ordinary share respectively totalling RM3,862,400 and RM10,000,000 respectively in respect of the financial year ending 
31 December 2014 on 11 January 2014 and 13 March 2014 respectively. These dividends will be recognised in the subsequent financial 
period.
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21. oPeratinG seGments

The Group has four reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The strategic business units 
offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different technology and marketing strategies.  For 
each of the strategic business units, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (the chief operating decision maker) reviews internal management 
reports at least on a quarterly basis.  The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

• Construction
• Investment holdings
• Trading
• Property development

Non-reportable segment of the Group comprise operations related to rental of investment properties.

There are varying levels of integration between reportable segments. This integration includes construction of buildings. Inter-segment 
pricing is determined on negotiated basis.

Performance is measured based on segment profit before tax, interest, depreciation and amortisation, as included in the internal management 
reports that are reviewed by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (the chief operating decision maker).  Segment profit is used to measure 
performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to 
other entities that operate within these industries.

seGment assets

The total of segment assets is measured based on all assets of a segment, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed 
by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.  Segment total assets is used to measure the return of assets of each segment.

seGment liabilities

The total segment liabilities is measured based on all liabilities of a segment, as included in the internal management reports that are 
reviewed by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.

seGment caPital exPenditure

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the financial year to acquire property, plant and equipment.

Notes to the financial statements 
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Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)

21. oPeratinG seGments (continued)

        ProPerty
     construction investments tradinG develoPment eliminations total

 2013    rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

 

 revenue

 External customers 479,989 2,301 23,887 110,626 - 616,803

 Inter-segment 163,954 65,672 - - (229,626) -        

 

 Total revenue 643,943 67,973 23,887 110,626 (229,626) 616,803

 

 results

 Segment results (external) 49,526 66,717 7,485 34,026 (68,265) 89,489

 Depreciation (4,263) (85) (53) (6) - (4,407)

 Finance costs (1,873) (3) (6) - - (1,882)

 Income tax expense (10,608) (63) (16) (9,158) - (19,845)

 

 Segment profit 32,782   66,566 7,410 24,862 (68,265) 63,355

 

 assets

 Segment assets 424,239 269,670 41,618 110,811 (231,997) 614,341

 Unallocated assets      193

 

 Total assets      614,534

 

 liabilities

 Segment liabilities 322,951 1,785 2,577 3,922 (16,258) 314,977

 Unallocated liabilities      712

 

 Total liabilities      315,689
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Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)

21. oPeratinG seGments (continued)

        ProPerty
     construction investments tradinG develoPment eliminations total

 2013   rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

 

 other information

 Capital expenditure 29,132 226 - 13 - 29,371

 Property, plant and 
  equipment written off
  (Note 3) 1 - - - - 1

 Depreciation of property, 
  plant and equipment

  - profit or loss (Note 3) 4,257 93 53 4 - 4,407

  - capitalised in 
   construction contract 
   costs (Note 7) 1,734 - - - - 1,734

  - capitalised in property 
   development costs
   (Note 10) -        -        -        6 - 6

        ProPerty
     construction investments tradinG develoPment eliminations total

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

 2012  restated restated restated restated restated 

 revenue

 External customers 320,317 1,222 5,632 107,306 - 434,477

 Inter-segment 303,852 20,372 - - (324,224)         -

 

 Total revenue 624,169 21,594 5,632 107,306 (324,224) 434,477

 

 results

 Segment results (external) 45,297 20,317 1,277 27,222 (24,653) 69,460

 Depreciation (3,041) (168) (61) (3) - (3,273)

 Finance costs (4,119) (10) (39) - - (4,168)

 Income tax expense (11,467) (500) (113) (6,390) - (18,470)

 

 Segment profit 26,670 19,639 1,064 20,829 (24,653) 43,549
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(continued)

21. oPeratinG seGments (continued)

        ProPerty
     construction investments tradinG develoPment eliminations total

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

 2012  restated restated restated restated restated

 

 assets

 Segment assets 305,419 235,995 5,784 149,872 (190,673) 506,397

 Unallocated assets      213

 

 Total assets      506,610

 

 liabilities

 Segment liabilities 248,784 10,097 2,540 4,318 (36,698) 229,041

 Unallocated liabilities      720

 

 Total liabilities      229,761

 

 other information

 Capital expenditure 21,227 7 4,118 5 - 25,357

 Property, plant and
  equipment written off
  (Note 3) 8 - - - - 8

 Depreciation of property, 
  plant and equipment

  - profit or loss (Note 3) 3,041 168 61 3 - 3,273

 - capitalised in 
  construction contract 
  costs (Note 7) 1,679 - - - - 1,679

 - capitalised in property 
  development costs
  (Note 10) - - - 4 - 4
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22. financial instruments 

	 22.1	 Categories	of	financial	instruments

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:
(a)  Loans and receivables (L&R);
(b)  Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):
  - Held for trading (HFT);
(c)  Held-to-materity inverstment (HTM), and
(d)  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (“FL”).  

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)

 
      carryinG  fvtPl
      amount l&r - hft htm

2013      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000
 

GrouP
financial assets

Other investments  16,625 - 1,625 15,000

Trade and other receivables  278,761 278,761 - -

Cash and cash equivalents  154,206 154,206 - -
 

      449,592 432,967 1,625 15,000
 

comPany

Other investments  16,625 - 1,625 15,000

Trade and other receivables  51,963 51,963 - -

Cash and cash equivalents  9,331 9,331 - -
 

      77,919 61,294 1,625 15,000       
 

2012 
GrouP
financial assets

Other investments  6,133 - 6,133 -

Trade and other receivables  109,319 109,319 - -

Cash and cash equivalents  212,702 212,702 - -
 

      328,154 322,021 6,133 -
 

comPany

Other investments  6,133 - 6,133 -

Trade and other receivables  26,817 26,817 - -

Cash and cash equivalents  8,269 8,269 - -
 

      41,219 35,086 6,133 -
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22. financial instruments (continued)

	 22.1	 Categories	of	financial	instruments	(continued)

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)

   

         carryinG 
         amount fl

         rm’000 rm’000
   2013

 GrouP
 financial liabilities

 Loans and borrowings     (20,714) (20,714)

 Trade and other payables     (243,959) (243,959)
 

         (264,673) (264,673)
 

 comPany
 financial liabilities

 Trade and other payables     (78,782) (78,782)
 

   

 2012 

 GrouP
 financial liabilities

 Loans and borrowings     (4,138) (4,138)

 Trade and other payables     (123,284) (123,284)
 

         (127,422) (127,422)
 

 comPany
 financial liabilities

 Trade and other payables     (40,268) (40,268)
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22. financial instruments (continued)

	 22.2	 Net	gains	and	losses	arising	from	financial	instruments   

      
  GrouP comPany

       2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

   Net gains/(losses) on:

    Fair value through profit or loss:

          - Held for trading   1,143 436 1,143 436

    Loans and receivables   (9,190) 1,567 166 93

    Financial liabilities measured at amortise cost   (400) (236) - -

 

       (8,447) 1,767 1,309 529

 

 22.3 financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

Notes to the financial statements 
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.4 credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations.  The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from trade and other receivables and investment in debt securities. 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from balances outstanding from subsidiaries and financial guarantees given 
to banks for banking facilities granted to subsidiaries.

  receivables

risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Normally credit evaluations 
are performed on customers requiring credit over a certain amount.

exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables is represented by the carrying 
amounts in the statement of financial position.

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the industry sector profile of its trade receivables on an ongoing 
basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the reporting date are as follows:

   GrouP

            2013 2012

         rm’000 rm’000

   Construction    183,205 51,615

   Property development    48,768 12,558

   Trading    1,826 2,722     

 

        233,799 66,895

 

Approximately 70% (2012: 68%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from 5 major customers located in Malaysia.

Management has taken reasonable steps to ensure that receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are stated at their realisable 
values.  A significant portion of these receivables are regular customers that have been transacting with the Group.  The Group uses 
ageing analysis to monitor the credit quality of the receivables.  Any receivables having significant balances past due more than 120 
days, which are deemed to have higher credit risk, are monitored individually.

The exposure of credit risk for trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period was mainly from domestic geographic region. 
As such, disclosure on geographical information is not presented.
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.4 credit risk (continued)

  receivables (continued) 

impairment losses
The ageing of trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period was:

         individual
       Gross imPairment net

   GrouP   rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

   2013

   Not past due   112,585 - 112,585

   Past due 1 – 30 days   94,350 - 94,350

   Past due 31 – 120 days   25,242 - 25,242

   Past due more than 120 days   21,204 (19,582) 1,622

 

       253,381 (19,582) 233,799

 

   2012

   Not past due   36,897 - 36,897

   Past due 1 – 30 days   28,112 - 28,112

   Past due 31 – 120 days   - - -

   Past due more than 120 days   10,617 (8,731) 1,886

 

       75,626 (8,731) 66,895

 

The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables during the financial year were:

   GrouP

         2013 2012

         rm’000 rm’000

   At 1 January     8,731 10,070

   Impairment loss recognised     13,281 -

   Impairment loss reversed     (2,430) (1,339)     

 

   At 31 December     19,582 8,731    

 

The allowance account in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment losses. Unless the Group is satisfied that recovery 
of the amount is possible, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against the receivable directly.

Amount due from contract customers is not past due. In respect of accrued billings receivable, management does not expect any 
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.4 credit risk (continued)

  receivables (continued)

	 	 Investments	and	other	financial	assets

risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
Investments are allowed only in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit rating equal to or better  
than the Group. 

exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company have only invested in domestic securities. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

In view of the sound credit rating of counterparties, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. The 
Group and the Company do not have overdue investments that have not been impaired. 

The investments and other financial assets are unsecured.

  financial guarantees

risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries. The 
Company monitors on an ongoing basis the results of the subsidiaries and repayments made by the subsidiaries.

exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM511,960,768 (2012: RM504,960,768) representing the total banking facilities 
of the subsidiaries as at end of the reporting period.

As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that any subsidiary would default on repayment.

The financial guarantees have not been recognised since the fair value on initial recognition was not material.

inter-company balances

risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
The Company provides unsecured advances to subsidiaries. The Company monitors the results of the subsidiaries regularly.

exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in the statement 
of financial position.

impairment losses
As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the advances to the subsidiaries are not recoverable.  The Company 
does not specifically monitor the ageing of current advances to the subsidiaries.  Nevertheless, these advances have been overdue 
for less than a year.
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.5 liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s exposure to 
liquidity risk arises principally from its various payables, loans and borrowings.

The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities deemed adequate by the management to ensure, as far 
as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due.

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different 
amounts.

maturity analysis
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting 
period based on undiscounted contractual payments: 

     
       carryinG contractual contractual under  1 - 5 
       amount interest rate cash flows 1 year years

     GrouP  rm’000 % rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

     2013

     non-derivAtive 
       finAnCiAl liAbilities

     Finance lease liabilities  20,714 4.59%-7.42% 21,746 12,234 9,512

     Trade and other payables  

        - non-current  25,358 6.60% 26,939 - 26,939

        - current  218,601 - 218,601 218,601 -

  

       264,673  267,286 230,835 36,451

  

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued)



101
LOH & LOH CORPORATION BERHAD

ANNUAL REPORT 2013

22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.5 liquidity risk (continued)

       carryinG contractual contractual under  1 - 5 
       amount interest rate cash flows 1 year years

     GrouP  rm’000 % rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

     2012

     non-derivAtive finAnCiAl 
       liAbilities

     Finance lease liabilities  4,138 4.61%-7.42% 4,371 2,431 1,940

     Trade and other payables  

        - non-current  38,388 6.60% 40,012 - 40,012

        - current  84,896 - 84,896 84,896 -

  

       127,422  129,279 87,327 41,952

  

     comPany

     2013
     non-derivAtive finAnCiAl
       liAbilities

     Trade and other payables  78,782 - 78,782 78,782 -

  
     2012
     non-derivAtive finAnCiAl
       liAbilities

     Trade and other payables  40,268 - 40,268 40,268 -
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.6 market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other prices that will affect the 
Group’s financial position or cash flows.

  (a)  currency risk

     The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other 
than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily U.S. Dollar 
(“USD”) and Japanese Yen (“JPY”).

    risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

     Exposures to foreign currency risk are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group does not use any forward contracts to 
hedge against its exposure to foreign currency risk as the foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than 
functional currency of the Group are kept to an acceptable level.

   exposure to foreign currency risk

     The Group’s exposure to foreign currency (a currency which is other than the functional currency of the Group entities) risk, 
based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period was:

  2013 2012
  denominated in denominated in

         usd JPy usd JPy

     GrouP  rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

     Trade receivables  - 6,696 797 14,150

     Cash and bank balances  - 6,040 - 11,706

     Trade payables  - (12,477) - (27,804)

     

     net exPosure  - 259 797 (1,948)
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.6 market risk (continued)

  (a)  currency risk (continued)

Currency risk sensitivity analysis

A 10% (2012: 10%) strengthening of the RM against the following currencies at the end of the reporting period would have 
increased (decreased) equity and post-tax profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remained constant and ignores any impact of forecasted sales and purchases. 

  equity Profit or loss

         2013 2012 2013 2012

       rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

     USD  - (59) - (59)

     JPY  (19) 146 (19) 146

     

A 10% (2012: 10%) weakening of RM against the above currencies at the end of the reporting period would have had equal but 
opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remained constant.

  (b)  interest rate risk

The Group’s investments in financial assets are mainly short term in nature and are not held for speculative purposes and 
include funds in fixed deposit or funds in asset management companies which yield better returns than cash at bank. The 
Group’s investment in deposits placed with licensed banks is not significantly exposed to interest rate risk as they are subject 
to fixed rates.

The Group’s fixed rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair values due to change in interest rates.

risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

The Group adopts a policy of investing in fixed rate instruments to avoid the risk of fluctuation in interest rates.

The borrowings which have been taken to finance the working capital of the Group are subject to fixed interest rates. The 
Group does not hedge its interest rate risk.
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.6 market risk (continued)

  (b)  interest rate risk (continued)

exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Group’s significant interest-bearing and interest-earning financial instruments, based on carrying 
amounts as at the end of the reporting period was:

   

             2013 2012

          rm’000 rm’000

       GrouP      

     fixed rate instruments     

     Financial assets     154,206 212,702

     Financial liabilities     (20,714) (4,138)

 

          133,492 208,564

 

       comPany      

     fixed rate instruments     

     Financial assets     9,331 8,269

 

interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

Fair	value	sensitivity	analysis	for	fixed	rate	instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group does not 
designate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates 
at the end of the reporting period would not affect profit or loss.

equity price risk sensitivity analysis
This analysis assumes that all other variables remained constant and the Group’s equity investments moved in correlation with 
FTSE Bursa Malaysia KLCI (“FBMKLCI”).

A 10% (2012: 10%) strengthening in FBMKLCI at the end of the reporting period would have increased equity and post-tax 
profit by RM121,857 (2012: RM459,965) for investments classified as fair value through profit or loss.

A 10% (2012: 10%) weakening in FBMKLCI would have had equal but opposite effect on equity and profit or loss respectively.
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.7 fair value information

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short term receivables and payables and short term borrowings reasonably 
approximate their fair values due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.

For non-current receivables and payables, the fair value is estimated by discounting the estimated future cash flows at the applicable 
discounting rates.

It was not practicable to estimate the fair value of the Group’s investment in unquoted securities due to lack of comparable quoted 
prices in an active market and the fair value cannot be reliably measured.

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value and those not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, 
together with their fair values and carrying amounts show in the statement of financial position.

  fair value of financial instruments carryinG
  carried at fair value    value

      level 1  level 2 level 3 total total

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

   GrouP and comPany

   2013

   financial assets

   Held for trading investments  1,625 - - 1,625 1,625

 

   2012

   financial assets

   Held for trading investments  6,133 - - 6,133 6,133
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.7 fair value information (continued)

  fair value of financial instruments carryinG
  not carried at fair value    value

      level 1  level 2 level 3 total total

      rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000 rm’000

   GrouP

   2013

   financial assets

   Trade and other receivables  - - 46,064 46,064 46,064

   Held-to-maturity investment  - - 15,000 15,000 15,000

 

   financial liabilities

   Trade and other payables  - - (25,358) (25,358) (25,358)

   Finance lease liabilities  - - (20,714) (20,714) (20,714)

 

   2012

   financial assets

   Trade and other receivables  - - 27,526 27,526 27,526

 

   financial liabilities

   Trade and other payables  - - (38,388) (38,388) (38,388)

   Finance lease liabilities  - - (4,138) (4,138) (4,138)

 

 Policy on transfer between levels

 The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that 
caused the transfer.

 level 1 fair value

 Level 1 fair value is derived from quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date.

 investments in equity and debt securities
 The fair values of financial assets that are quoted in an active market are determined by reference to their quoted closing bid price at 

the end of the reporting period.
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22. financial instruments (continued)

 22.7 fair value information (continued)

 level 2 fair value

 Level 2 fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the financial 
assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly.

 transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair values

 There has been no transfer between Level 1 and 2 fair values during the financial year (2012: no transfer in either directions).

 level 3 fair value

 Level 3 fair value is estimated using unobservable inputs for the financial assets and liabilities.

	 Fair	value	of	financial	instruments	not	carried	at	fair	value

 The method and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments not carried at fair value are as follows:

 • Finance lease liabilities – The fair values of finance lease liabilities are estimated based on discounted cash flows using  
 prevailing market rates of similar lease agreements.

 • Non-current trade and other receivables and payables – The fair values of trade and other receivables and payables are  
 estimated based on discounted cash flows using base lending rate.

 interest rates used to determine fair value
 The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are as follows:

            2013 2012

          % %

   Trade and other receivables and payables       6.60  6.60

   Finance leases liabilities    4.59 – 7.42 4.61 – 7.42
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23. caPital manaGement  

The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base and safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The Directors 
monitor and are determined to maintain an optimal debt-to-equity ratio.

The debt-to-equity ratios at 31 December 2013 and at 31 December 2012 were as follows:

   GrouP

            2013 2012

          rm’000 rm’000

Total loans and borrowings (Note 13)    20,714 4,138

Trade and other payables (Note 14)    288,383 221,617

Less:  Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11)    (154,206) (212,702)

 

Net debt     154,891 13,053

 

Total equity      298,845 276,849   

 

Debt-to-equity ratios    0.52 0.05

 

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.  

24. caPital and other commitments 

   GrouP

            2013 2012

          rm’000 rm’000

capital expenditure commitments 

land purchase for future development

Authorised but not contracted for    - 62,624

Contracted but not provided for    59,420 -
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25. continGencies  

The Directors are of the opinion that provisions are not required in respect of these matters, as it is not probable that a future sacrifice of 
economic benefits will be required.
   comPany

            2013 2012

          rm’000 rm’000

contingent liabilities not considered remote

Corporate guarantees (unsecured) 

Guarantees given to banks for Group’s performance/ tender guarantees granted to customers  282,250 262,577

 

The Company has given guarantees to banks amounting to RM511,960,768 (2012: RM504,960,768) for banking facilities extended to 
subsidiaries of which RM282,250,063 (2012: RM262,576,747) have been utilised as at 31 December 2013.

26. Joint venture                  

Details of an unincorporated joint venture held by a subsidiary of the Group are as follows:

  effective ownershiP
  interest

 name of country of PrinciPal 2013 2012
 Joint venture incorPoration activities % %

 

 Water Engineering  Malaysia Project management in relation - 50
  Technology Sdn. Bhd.-     to sewage treatment plants
  Envitech Sdn. Bhd. JV   

The tables summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group interest in joint venture, which is accounted for using 
the equity method.

   GrouP

            2013 2012

          rm’000 rm’000

Current assets    - 907

Current liabilities    - (56)

 

Net assets     - 851

 

Revenue     -       -  

 

Expenses     -       -
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27. related Parties

identity of related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group or the Company if the Group or the 
Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and 
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and the party are subject to common control or common significant 
influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 

Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. The key management personnel include all the Directors of the 
Group, and certain members of senior management of the Group.

The significant related party transactions of the Group, other than key management personnel compensations (see Note 18), are as follows:

  Significant	related	party	transactions

Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under normal trade terms. The significant related party 
transactions of the Group and the Company are shown below.

   GrouP

            2013 2012

          rm’000 rm’000

  Purchase of goods from Swisslane Granite Sdn. Bhd.,

    a company in which directors of a subsidiary have  equity interest   - 12

  Progress billings payable to Saroma Engineering Sdn. Bhd., 

    corporate shareholder of a subsidiary    8,382 15,024
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28. acquisition of non-controllinG interests

On 19 March 2013, the Group acquired an additional 10% equity interest in Central Icon Sdn. Bhd. for cash consideration of RM3,559,245, 
increasing its ownership from 90% to 100%. The carrying amount of Central Icon Sdn. Bhd.’s net assets in the Group’s financial statements 
on the date of the acquisition was RM36,251,277. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interest of RM3,625,128 and an 
increase in retained earnings of RM65,883.

29. subsequent events

On 15 January 2014, a subsidiary of the Company, Loh & Loh Constructions Sdn. Bhd. (“LLCSB”) has made a payment of RM54,154,868 
on behalf of its related company, Millenium Creation Sdn. Bhd. (“MCSB”) for the acquisition of a piece of land.
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Statement by Directors 
pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

Statutory declaration 
pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 40 to 111 are drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as of 31 December 2013 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

y.a.m. tenGKu dato’ rahimah     loh Kim Kah
binti almarhum  sultan mahmud

Kuala Lumpur,
Date: 23 April 2014

I, Loh Kim Kah, the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely 
declare that the financial statements set out on pages 40 to 111 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

loh Kim Kah

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named in Kuala Lumpur on 23 April 2014 before me:

commissioner for oaths 
W493 
LEE CHIN HIN 
No. 149, Jalan Aminuddin Baki, 
Taman Tun Dr Ismail, 
60000 Kuala Lumpur.
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

rePort on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 
December 2013 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, as set out on pages 40 to 111.

directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair view in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal 
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 December 
2013 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.
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rePort on other leGal and reGulatory requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries have 
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s financial statements are in form and 
content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory 
information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(c) Our audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made under Section 174(3) 
of the Act.

other matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia 
and for no other purpose.  We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

KPmG   lam shuh sianG

Firm Number:  AF 0758 Approval Number: 3045/02/15(J)
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Petaling Jaya, 
Date: 23 April 2014

Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia) (continued)
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List of properties
as at 31 December 2013

   aPProx.  net booK
 descriPtion  aGe of aPProximate value as at date of
 and  buildinG land area/ 31.12.2013 last
location existinG use tenure (years) units (rm’000) valuation

loh & loh constructions 
sdn bhd
Grant 14428 Lot 47626 Two units Freehold 22.5 298 sq metres 4,919 2010
Grant 14429 Lot 47627 adjoining four
19 & 21, Jalan Sri Hartamas 7, storey shophouses
Taman Sri Hartamas, used as office 
building
50480 Kuala Lumpur

Grant 28522 Lot 4474 Vacant Freehold n/a 15.940 acres 3,819 2010
Mukim of Hulu Bernam Timur, industrial land
District of Batang Padang, Perak

loh & loh develoPment 
sdn bhd
Lots 592,593,594,585,586,595,596 Vacant land Freehold n/a 30.993 acres 10,125 2010
and 1327-1329, Mukim of Setul,
District of Seremban, Negeri Sembilan

Lot 3828 CT No.6177 Storeyard & Freehold n/a 11.0 acres 3,150 2010
Mukim Setul, District of Seremban, workshop
Negeri Sembilan

Unit No 1551, Awana Condominium, Vacant apartment Freehold 22 1,258 sq feet 380 2010
Genting Highlands, HS (D) 2078
PT No.2157/95 District of Bentung,
Negeri Pahang

Geran 58854 Lot 64268 in 3 storey Freehold 12.6 23,838 sq feet 4,996 2010
Mukim Damansara, semi-detached
Daerah Petaling, Selangor factory building
20, Jalan Astaka U8/83, for rent
Seksyen U8, Bukit Jelutong,
40150 Shah Alam

Grant 14430 Lot 47628 One unit four Freehold 22.5 149 sq metres 2,500 2010
23, Jalan Sri Hartamas 7, storey shophouses
Taman Sri Hartamas, used as office
50480 Kuala Lumpur building

The properties were revalued by a registered valuer with Henry Butcher Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Valuation was made using comparison method on the basis 
of current market value.
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Group Directory

water enGineerinG technoloGy sdn bhd

wet sales & services sdn bhd

wet o&m sdn bhd   
    
20, Jalan Astaka U8/83, Seksyen U8, 
Bukit Jelutong, 40150 Shah Alam, 
Selangor, Malaysia.     
Tel  : +603 - 7846 9888
Fax  : +603 - 7846 8168
Email: wet@wetsb.com 
Website: www.wetsb.com

loh & loh corPoration berhad

loh & loh constructions sdn bhd

loh & loh develoPment sdn bhd

19, 21 & 23, Jalan Sri Hartamas 7, 
Taman Sri Hartamas,
50480 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
Tel  : +603 - 6201 3888, 6201 4777
Fax  : +603 - 6201 2112, 6201 1010
Email: info@loh-loh.com.my
Website: www.loh-loh.com.my






